In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

NATHANIEL HELTON, an individual,

Appellant,

vs.

NEVADA VOTERS FIRST PAC, a Nevada Committee for Political Action; TODD L. BICE, in his capacity as the President of NEVADA VOTERS FIRST PAC; and BARBARA CEGAVSKE, in her official capacity as NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Mar 01 2022 04:16 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 84110

First Judicial District Court Case No.: 21 OC 00172 1B

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

BRADLEY S. SCHRAGER, ESQ. (NSB 10217)
JOHN SAMBERG, ESQ. (NSB 10828)
DANIEL BRAVO, ESQ. (NSB 13078)
ERIC LEVINRAD, ESQ. (pro hac vice)
WOLF, RIFKIN, SHAPIRO,
SCHULMAN & RABKIN, LLP

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(1) because it is an appeal from a final order resolving all claims presented to the district court, and pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(3) because it an appeal from an order refusing to grant an injunction.

The final order was entered on January 6, 2022. Notice of entry of the order was served on January 12, 2022. The notice of appeal was filed on January 14, 2022. This appeal is timely because it was filed within 30 days after the entry of the final judgment as N.R.A.P. 4(a)(1) requires.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(a)(3) because it is a case involving a ballot or election issue.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Does the Petition, which would implement multiple reforms that target entirely different processes and serve different, nonoverlapping purposes, including (1) replacing partisan primaries and other existing nominating processes with a mandatory open primary election in which the top five finishers advance to the general election, and (2) separately instituting a complex ranked-choice voting system and tabulation method in the general election, violate NRS 295.009(1)(a)'s single-subject requirement for initiatives?
- II. Does the Petition, which would mandate a massive overhaul of Nevada's primary and (in a quite different way) general election processes, including numerous alterations that would require significant changes to Nevada's election infrastructure, all without providing any means of funding the required changes, constitute an unfunded mandate in violation of Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution?
- III. Is the Petition's description of effect—which, among other deficiencies, fails to inform voters that the Petition would effectively eliminate political parties' ability to nominate candidates and independent candidates' ability to access the general election ballot via signature gathering, or that it would allow candidates for the first time to self-select the party

affiliations that appear with their names on not just the primary ballot but also the general election ballot—misleading, confusing, or deceptive in violation of NRS 295.009(1)(b)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 12, 2021, defendant Todd L. Bice, on behalf of defendant Nevada Voters First PAC (collectively, "Proponents"), filed the "Better Voting Nevada Initiative" (the "Petition") with the Secretary of State. (Joint Appendix ("J. App.") 19.) The Petition seeks to amend the Nevada Constitution to make two significant—and distinct—changes: (1) eliminating the ability of political parties to select their nominee to appear on the ballot for most state offices by doing away with Nevada's current partisan primary system, as well as eliminating the ability of independent candidates to access the general election ballot via signature gathering for the same offices, replacing those long-standing processes with a non-partisan open primary in which the top-five vote getters advance to the general election; and (2) replacing Nevada's traditional general election system for most state offices, under which the candidate who gets the most votes wins, with a complicated ranked-choice voting system in which candidates are eliminated one by one and votes of eliminated candidates (to the extent the voter chooses to "rank" other candidates in order of preference) redistributed until a candidate obtains an outright majority of over 50%.

On December 6, 2021, plaintiff Nathaniel Helton initiated a challenge to the Petition by filing a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief pursuant to NRS 295.061 in the First Judicial District Court. (J. App. 1.) The Complaint asserted that the Petition was invalid

because (1) its changes serve separate and distinct purposes, and thus the Petition embraces at least two distinct subjects in violation of NRS 295.009(1)(a)'s single-subject requirement for initiatives; (2) it would mandate that Nevada expend significant funds overhauling its primary and general election systems without providing any source of revenue in violation of the unfunded mandate prohibition in Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution; and (3) its description of effect omits or misstates many of the Petition's most significant effects, including that, under the new system, the party affiliation that would appear next to a candidate's name on the general election ballot would no longer reflect a party's endorsement or even be a reliable indicator of the candidate's values or policy preferences—a fact that the Petition itself recognizes is so significant to voters that it would require a conspicuous disclaimer on the general election ballot itself, but which does not appear anywhere in description of effect—rendering the description misleading, the confusing, or deceptive in violation of NRS 295.009(1)(b). (J. App. 1-12.)

The parties agreed that Mr. Helton's challenge presented purely legal questions for which no evidence need be taken, (J. App. 116-17), and the district court ordered Mr. Helton to submit an alternative description of effect for the Petition to assist with its resolution of the case, (J. App. 115-16). Mr. Helton filed his proposed alternative description on December 20, 2021, (J. App. 79-81), and, after taking briefing and proposed orders from the parties, the district court held a hearing on

January 5, 2022, in which the court asked no questions of the parties during oral argument. The following day, the district court adopted Proponent's fourteen-page proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order denying all relief virtually verbatim. (J. App. 131-45.)

In the adopted order, the district court found that, though the Petition would do away with political parties' ability to select their standard bearer by eliminating partisan primaries and separately change the method by which votes are cast and tabulated in the general election, it addressed only a single subject. The court reasoned that the changes were "functionally relate[d] and . . . germane, to how the specified officeholders . . . are chosen by voters," which it characterized as "the primary purpose of" the Petition. (J. App. 137.) In so holding, the district court ignored that Mr. Helton's argument focused on the fundamentally different ways in which the primary and general election processes would be changed (and how neither was remotely functionally related or germane to the other), instead erroneously stating that Mr. Helton was "insisting that no one initiative can simultaneously address both" the primary and general election. (J. App. 137.) The district court then proceeded to reject this claim that Mr. Helton never made, reasoning that, "[t]he primary election and general election are intertwined steps in the process," and pointing to a 1996 amendment (pre-dating Nevada's single-subject rule for initiatives) in which voters approved campaign contribution limits that applied in both primary and general elections. (J. App. 137.)

Second, the district court concluded that the Petition would not enact an unconstitutional unfunded mandate. (J. App. 139.) In doing so, the district court did not deny that Nevada would be required to spend money if the Petition were enacted, or that the Petition does not provide any means for raising any revenue to offset that required spending. Instead, the district court held that the "common burdens" associated with changes in law "are not what Article 19, Section 6 concerns." (J. App. 140.) The court also stated that the Petition was not an unfunded mandate because it would "vest[] the implementation" of its provisions "with the Legislature and likewise the Secretary of State and local officials." (J. App. 141.)

Finally, the order adopted by the district court stated that the Petition's description of effect was "straightforward, succinct, and non-argumentative" and contained "nothing misleading." (J. App. 141, 143.) It stated that, by informing voters that the Petition would "eliminat[e] partisan primaries" and establish a non-partisan open primary, the description put voters on notice "about the reduced role of party control and party affiliation under the new process." (J. App. 143.) The district court found that, "[t]he specifics about how party designation appears on the printed ballot form"—which Mr. Helton never contended should be included in the description—"are, at best, secondary effects that do not need to be included in the limited space of the description." (J. App. 143-

44.) And because Mr. Helton's proposed alternative description included potentially negative or controversial facts regarding the proposed system, the court stated that it was "argumentative" and "advocate[d] partisan interests" and thus did "not comply with Nevada law." (J. App. 141-42.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Petition seeks to amend the Nevada Constitution to effect at least two drastic—and distinct—changes to the state's electoral system. (J. App. 20-24.)

The first would effectuate a sea change in how Nevada operates, voters participate in, and candidates are chosen in the state's primary elections. The Petition would eliminate partisan primary elections as nominating contests for federal, state constitutional, and state legislative offices. (J. App. 20-22 (proposing to amend Article 15 of the Nevada Constitution by adding "Section 17 – Top-five primary elections for primary office").) It would replace these contests with open, non-partisan primaries in which the top-five finishers for each office, regardless of party, qualify to participate in the succeeding general election. (J. App. 21.) Candidates would only be able to advance to the general election by placing in the new open primary, so this change would also eliminate the current processes by which minor political parties nominate their respective candidates and independent candidates petition to appear on the general election ballot. See NRS 293.200, 293.1715.

In other words, the Petition would do away with the ability of

political parties and their voters to choose a single standard-bearer to represent them in the general election, it would cap the currently unlimited number of candidates who can participate in the general election at five, and it would allow those five advancing candidates to consist of any combination of partisan affiliations, including multiple candidates purporting to affiliate with the same party. This is an extraordinary and fundamental shift from the way primaries have historically operated and the way in which Nevadans have chosen candidates to run for public office.

Second, in the general election, the Petition would establish and impose a whole new voting system known as "ranked-choice voting" for federal, state constitutional, and state legislative offices. (J. App. 22-24.) This would entirely replace the system used by Nevada voters since statehood to elect candidates to public office. See Nev. Const. art. 15, § 14 ("A plurality of votes given at an election by the people, shall constitute a choice, where not otherwise provided by this Constitution.") (enacted as part of original Nevada Constitution in 1864). Under Nevada's long-standing plurality rule, the candidate who wins the most votes in the general election wins the election—even if the winner's vote share of the vote distribution falls short of 50%. See id.

Ranked-choice voting bears little similarity to Nevada's plurality voting system. While Nevada voters have traditionally filled out their general election ballots by marking one choice for each office (with the rare exception *e.g.*, multi-seat at large positions), ranked-choice voting is a complex system in which voters are directed to indicate their preferences by ordering up to five candidates from most to least preferred. (J. App. 22-24 (proposing to amend Article 15 of the Nevada Constitution by adding "Section 18 – Ranked-choice voting for general elections for partisan offices").) If no candidate receives over 50% of first-choice votes, the election proceeds through consecutive rounds of elimination, with the candidate receiving the least votes removed from the contest in each round. Voters who listed that candidate as their first choice would then have their votes redistributed to their next-preferred choice until a victor attains a statistically assigned outright majority. (J. App. 22-23.) Voters are not required to rank all candidates, however, and those who choose not to are excluded from the final tally if their preferred candidates are eliminated. (J. App. 23.)

Ranked-choice voting does not require that there be five candidates to work, and it is fully compatible with partisan primaries generally and Nevada's current general election ballot qualification system specifically. Other jurisdictions have adopted ranked-choice voting without open primaries and vice versa. *See, e.g.*, Cal. Const., art. II, § 5(a); Me. Rev. Stat. Ann. tit. 21-A, § 723-A. In other words, neither is in any way dependent upon the other.

Moreover, using ranked-choice voting does not allow more nonpartisan voters to participate in primary elections or expand the number of choices available to voters in the general election, which were the two purposes Proponents offered for the Petition below. (J. App. 90-91.) Instead, advocates for ranked-choice voting contend its principal benefit is that it eliminates the so-called "spoiler effect," in which two or more candidates with similar policy positions split the vote of a majority of the electorate, resulting in a candidate that most voters least prefer winning the election. See National Conference of State Choice Legislatures, Ranked Voting (Aug. 24, 2021), https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/ranked-choicevoting636934215.aspx.

The Petition provides that, during both the new open primary and the modified, ranked-choice general election, ballots would list a political party following each candidate's name. (J. App. 21, 22.) However, because candidates can register at will with the party of their choice and the Petition would do away with the parties' ability to select their candidates with the implementation of the open primary, these denotations would no longer indicate that the party had affiliated itself with the candidate, or even that the candidate necessarily shares the values and policy preferences reflected in the party's platform.

¹ Proponents have never argued that addressing the "spoiler" effect is the purpose of the Petition, nor do they explain that this is generally understood to be the purpose and effect of ranked-choice voting in the description of effect.

The consequences for Nevada general election voters, who have long been able to rely on a candidate's stated political affiliation on the ballot as an endorsement by the party itself is significant. Incredibly, while the Petition *itself* recognizes this, the statement of effect makes absolutely no mention whatsoever of this significant effect. Specifically, the text of the Petition would require general election ballots to carry a conspicuous disclaimer stating, "Each candidate for partisan office may state a political party that he or she prefers. A candidate's preference does not imply that the candidate is nominated or endorsed by the party, or that the party approves of or associates with that candidate." (J. App. 22 (proposed Section 18(5)).) But because the statement of effect does not mention this consequence, a voter may very well endorse the Petition, and even vote for it, only to learn of this consequence for the first time in the voting booth when they are first presented with the disclaimer.

To make these changes, the Petition seeks to amend or establish four discrete sections of the Nevada Constitution and 50 separate constitutional provisions. (J. App. 20-24.)

The Petition's description of effect, required by NRS 295.009(1)(b) to inform potential signatories of its impact, reads, in full:

If enacted, this initiative changes Articles 5 and 15 of Nevada's Constitution for Congressional, Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Attorney General, Secretary of State, Treasurer, Controller, and State Legislator elections, eliminating partisan primaries and establishing an open top-five primary election and a rank-choice voting general election.

For these offices, all candidates and voters participate in a single primary election regardless of party affiliation or non-affiliation. The top five finishers advance to the general election, and the general election winner is determined by rank-choice voting:

- General election voters rank the candidates in order of preference from first to last, if they wish to rank more than their first preference.
- As traditionally, a candidate receiving first-choice votes of more than 50% wins.
- If no candidate is the first choice of more than 50%, the candidate with the fewest votes is eliminated. And each voter who had ranked the now-eliminated candidate as their first choice, has their single vote transferred to their next highest choice candidate.
- This tabulation process repeats until the one candidate with more than 50% support is determined as the winner.

The Legislature must adopt implementing legislation by July 1, 2025.

(J. App. 25, 26, 27, 28.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petition combines two very different measures into a single initiative—(1) the elimination of Nevada's current partisan primary and nomination systems, in favor of a single, non-partisan open primary in which the top-five vote getters advance to the general election, and (2) the replacement of Nevada's traditional plurality-winner general election

for most state offices with a complex ranked-choice voting and tabulation system. In doing so, the Petition would radically change Nevada's election systems in multiple unrelated ways, for multiple unrelated reasons, and with multiple unrelated consequences. This in itself is sufficient to render the Petition invalid under Nevada's single subject rule for initiative petitions, which prohibits bundling disparate proposals together and then telling voters to take it or leave it. Moreover, the Petition does not adequately inform voters of the sweeping practical and financial effects of *either* of the unrelated changes it would enact.

To provide one example, in replacing the partisan nominating processes with a top-five open primary, the Petition would fundamentally change what it means for a candidate to be designated with a party affiliation on the general election ballot. In the new system, candidates would be allowed to self-select the partisan designation that would appear with their names, and voters will no longer be able to trust that candidates who purport to affiliate with a political party do in fact ascribe to that party's platform and will advance the party's values. As a result, Nevada voters will no longer be able to confidently rely on party designation when they vote in a general election. The Petition itself recognizes this major effect by requiring that ballots to carry a "conspicuous disclaimer" warning voters that a candidate may self-select his or her party and the designation does not reflect the party's nomination or endorsement. This sweeping change is not only totally

unrelated to the ranked-choice voting system that the Petition has bundled it with so that Nevada's voters must either enact both or neither, but it is also totally unmentioned in the description of effect that is meant to inform supporters of what they are signing. This is just one reason that the Petition is invalid.

The district court erred in overlooking this effect, and by finding that the Petition does not violate (1) Nevada's long-standing and strictly enforced single-subject rule for initiative petitions; (2) the Nevada Constitution's prohibition on initiatives that mandate expenditures without funding them; and (3) the requirement that an initiative's description of effect be sufficient to enable voters to make an informed decision as to whether to support it. This Court should reverse the district court's determination on each of these issues.

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