# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 84110

NATHANIEL HELTON, an Individual

Electronically Filed Apr 01 2022 09:10 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

NEVADA VOTERS FIRST PAC, A NEVADA COMMITTEE FOR POLITICAL ACTION; TODD L. BICE, IN HIS CAPACITY AS THE PRESIDENT OF NEVADA VOTERS FIRST PAC; AND BARBARA K. CEGAVSKE, IN HER CAPACITY AS NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE.

Respondents.

# ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS NEVADA VOTERS FIRST PAC, A NEVADA COMMITTEE FOR POLITICAL ACTION; AND TODD L. BICE, IN HIS CAPACITY AS THE PRESIDENT OF NEVADA VOTERS FIRST PAC.

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

Perhaps some voters may have preferred the rights articulated in Sections 1-4 in that initiative, but not others. Still other voters might have preferred the rights in Sections 5-10. There is no requirement that every constitutional amendment be narrowly tailored to one discreet provision, anytime that provision can theoretically stand alone. Doing so "would significantly hinder the people's power to legislate by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Indeed, before the district court, Helton argued that the Initiative's provisions were not severable. (JA00045-46.) As Voters First correctly noted, that very contention contradicted Helton's suggestion that the provisions were not germane to the subject of how officeholders are selected. (JA00999 n.7.) Tellingly, before this Court, Helton now makes no reference to his non-severability argument.

initiative and effectively bar all but the simplest ballot measures." *Educ. Initiative*, 129 Nev. at 45, 293 P.3d at 881.

It is immaterial that Helton speculates that "a Nevada voter could be in favor of open primaries but oppose ranked-choice voting or vice-versa." (AOB at 22.) Every initiative presents the voters with policy choices, some of which voters may prefer more than others. But so long as those provisions relate to a single subject, it is for the initiative's proponents to propose those policy choices. Under Helton's approach, each impacted office would constitute a separate subject. After all, some voters might prefer non-closed primaries with ranked-choice voting for state legislative office, more so than for state executive branch offices, reasoning that executive branch offices are elected state wide while legislative offices are voted on by district. Still other voters might prefer such a method for congressional offices, but not so much for state elective offices. How a governor is elected is not "dependent on" how a legislator is elected.

But initiative proponents need not propose separate initiatives simply because self-interested opponents hypothesize how some voters might prefer some choices over others. The law allows Nevada voters to propose to change how core officeholders are chosen, and that is precisely what the Initiative does. *See Nevada Judges Ass'n.*, 112 Nev. at 56, 910 P.2d at 901-2 (explaining that partisan officeholders are a separate class unlike nonpartisan offices, like judges, and term limits applying to partisan officeholders through a single initiative is allowed). The district court correctly recognized that non-partisan primaries functionally relate to the effectiveness of rank-choice voting and the benefits and effectiveness of one would be diluted or lost without the other. (JA0138-39  $\P$  23.)

# 4. The Initiative Does Not "Log Roll."

Although the Initiative's parts are all functionally related and germane to a single subject, Helton untenably contends that the Initiative engages in "log rolling." (AOB at 17-24.) Log-rolling occurs when "two or more completely separate provisions are combined in a petition, when one or both of which would not obtain enough votes to pass without the other." *Heller*, 122 Nev. at 922, 141 P.3d at 1254 (Hardesty, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part). Justice Hardesty analogized a single-subject violation by comparing an initiative that included increased penalties to sex offenders while also including a provision abolishing the death penalty and explained that even if voters

were aware of both provisions, the people would face a 'Hobson's choice'; they could either accomplish the goal of further protecting the public from sex offenders while simultaneously abolishing a law that they generally favor, or forgo the opportunity of increased sex offender protections in favor of preserving the death penalty. The single-subject requirement, then, is useful in focusing the petition signers' and voters' attention on the one subject to be advanced, without creating confusion over what that subject is, and without making them choose between competing policy goals.

Id. at 922-23, 141 P.3d at 1254 (footnote omitted).
The district court recognized that the Initiative does not engage in "log rolling" by proposing changes to the primary and general elections. (JA0138-39 ¶¶ 22-23.) After all, that is the process for how voters chose their representatives. It is not log rolling simply because each of an initiative's provisions "could" be theoretically voted on separately and stand on their own. *Meyer*, 465 P.3d at 498 ("The question is not whether the initiative could be split into separate measures, but rather whether the various provisions 'embrace someone general subject'") (citations omitted).

As described above, the open primary and top five finishing functionally relate to ranked-choice voting in the general election – all of which are germane to how Nevadans elect their representatives. The Initiative's benefits and efficiencies will be lost if the parts are segregated.<sup>10</sup> Even so, the Initiative does not combine wholly divergent political issues – one popular and one unpopular – to corner the voters.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Again, Helton's contention below that these two aspects of the Initiative are not severable underscores how and why each is intertwined to its purpose. (JA0045-46.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Helton also claims significance in the Institute for Political Innovation's reference to the fact that Final Five Voting ("FFV") involves *two* innovations. (AOB 20-21.) The two innovations – five candidates advancing from the primary and then ranked-choice voting in the general – plainly function together to achieve the Initiative's objective. The Initiative also involves more than two elected offices – congressional and multiple state-wide offices. That does not mean that it involves more than one subject.

Contrary to Helton's assertions, the Initiative does not force Nevada voters to make a Hobson's choice. Instead, the Initiative is seeking to remedy the Hobson's choice that Nevada voters practically face with every take-it-or-leave-it general election between candidates that have been selected by a narrow minority of voters as a result of closed primaries.

### C. The Initiative does not Violate Article 19, Section 6.

Helton's efforts to keep the Initiative from the public by claiming that it is an unfunded mandate also fails. (AOB 29-38.) Article 19, Section 2(1) of the Nevada Constitution provides that the citizen's democratic initiative process is "subject to the limitation of" Article 19, Section 6, which "does not permit the proposal of any statute or statutory amendment which makes an appropriation or otherwise requires the expenditure of money, unless such statute or amendment also imposes a sufficient tax, not prohibited by the constitution, or otherwise constitutionally provides for raising the necessary revenue."

"[A]n appropriation is the setting aside of funds, and an expenditure of money is the payment of funds." *Rogers v. Heller*, 117 Nev. 169, 173, 18 P.3d 1034, 1036 (2001). "Stated differently, an initiative makes an appropriation or expenditure when it leaves budgeting officials *no discretion* in appropriating or expending the money *mandated by the initiative*—the budgeting official must approve the appropriation or expenditure, *regardless of any other financial considerations*." *Herbst Gaming*, *Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. 877, 890, 141 P.3d 1224, 1233 (2006) (emphases added). The classic example is when an initiative "sets aside a specified amount of money for a certain purpose and is executable in such a way that it requires no further legislative action." *Id.* at 890 n.39, 141 P.3d at 1233 n.39 (describing *Alaska Action Ctr., Inc. v. Municipality of Anchorage*, 84 P.3d 989, 993 (Alaska 2004)).

Helton claims that the "Petition mandates expenditures because it would leave Nevada officials no choice but to spend significant funds on a massive overhaul of the state's electoral systems." (AOB at 31.) He hypothesizes about the types of equipment, software, labor, and public relations that he guesses might be made to implement the Initiative, if passed. (*Id.*).

To begin, Helton presented no evidence to the district court about the supposed cost of the Initiative or the current governmental cost to hold elections. In fact, he agreed below that his challenge was purely legal and required no fact-finding. (JA0116-17 ¶ 10.) As a result, the district court found his unfunded mandate claims were "unsupported speculation." (JA0157 ¶ 25.)

On appeal, Helton concedes his evidentiary failure and, in footnotes, now cites to inadmissible websites with cost estimates for making election changes in other states, with no evidence of any comparison to Nevada. (AOB at 33 n.8-9.) With this sleight of hand, Helton then proclaims that "it is self-evident that [the changes] will not be free." (*Id.* at 32.) Trying to escape his stipulation as to not presenting outside

evidence to the district court, Helton resorts to pretending as though his claims of increased cost is subject to judicial notice. (*Id.* at 33 (citing NRS 47.150(2).)

But for obvious reasons a discussion about the Initiative's alleged costs will be "reasonably questioned" and will be "subject to reasonable dispute." *See* NRS 47.130(2) (stating requirements to judicially notice matters of fact). Helton stipulated to the district court that he would be presenting no actual evidence, and his efforts to renege on that now is a confession of his lack of substance.

Besides Helton's dearth of evidence, the inquiry is not whether conducting elections in the manner the Initiative sets forth will cost money, but whether the Initiative *mandates a new expenditure that otherwise does not exist.* See Rogers v. *Heller*, 117 Nev. at 176, 18 P.3d at 1038. For example, in *Rogers*, This Court invalidated an initiative that sought to raise funds as well as impose a funding threshold for Nevada's public elementary and secondary schools. 117 Nev. at 171-76, 18 P.3d at 1035-1038. The Court held,

[e]ven if the Legislature has a perpetual duty to fund education, because of its traditional role in funding education and its promise to pay any needed portion of the basic support guarantees, the Legislature is not required to continue funding education at any particular level. A necessary appropriation or expenditure or expenditure in *any* set amount or percentage is a new requirement *that otherwise does not exist.* 

*Id.* at 176, 18 P.3d at 1038 (emphasis in original). The initiative impermissibly imposed "a new requirement" of a specific funding level that did not already exist

and improperly invaded the Legislature's traditional "broad discretion in determining education funding." Thus, the Court concluded that the initiative violated article 19, section 6 and was void. *Id.* at 177, 18 P.3d at 1039.

On the other hand, this Court upheld the initiative in *Herbst Gaming* because it did "not make an appropriation or require[] the expenditure of money. It simply expand[ed] the statutory list of public places in which smoking [wa]s unlawful and le[ft] untouched provisions that set forth the penalty for smoking in an area in which smoking is prohibited." 122 Nev. at 891, 141 P.3d at 1233 (footnotes omitted). The Court reasoned:

In particular, the [initiative] requires *neither* the setting aside nor the payment of any funds. Further, and significantly, the [initiative] leaves budgeting officials' *discretion entirely intact*. It does not, for example, *compel* an increase or reallocation of police officers to enforce its provision. Because the [initiative] *neither* explicitly or implicitly compels an appropriation or expenditure, but rather leaves the mechanics of its enforcement with government official, it does not involve an appropriation or expenditure warranting a revenue-generating provision.

Id. (emphasis added).

Here, the Initiative does not impose a new requirement of funding elections or demand any funding level. The Initiative does not require any specific equipment, software, personnel, or training. The Initiative only seeks election reform to include all Nevada voters in a single non-closed primary which narrows the field to the top-five candidates who are then ranked by the voters. Nevada law already provides for holding both primary and general elections. The Initiative simply changes who participates as a voter and a candidate in the primary and how the votes are tabulated in the general election.

The district court observed "[i]t is normal that a change in the law will carry with it some associated burden, including training, updates, record keeping, enforcement efforts, and similar obligations." (JA0158 ¶ 27.) Just as this Court held in Rogers, the district court found that these types of preexisting "common burdens are not what Article 19, Section 6 concerns." (Id.) Even Helton concedes that an appropriation violates Section 6 when it "would require officials to spend even a dollar that they otherwise would not . . . ." (AOB at 35 (emphasis added).) The government must already fund and hold elections. There is a certain amount of updating election equipment, software, training, and public education every cycle. The Initiative does not order any official to spend a dollar more than they otherwise would. As Helton suggests, the modified elections could be held "using the exact same resources as previous" and "Nevada official maintain[] their discretion to decide whether to dedicate additional funds..." (AOB at 36 (discussing *Herbst*).)<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Helton predicts that it is "impossible for the Legislature, the Secretary of State, or local election officials to comply with its provisions without spending additional money." (AOB at 37.) But of course, Helton offered no evidence of the current cost to hold an election or any evidence of the cost under the proposed Initiative.

The Initiative also does not remove the discretion of budgeting officials. NRS 293.442-NRS 293.460 provides discretion to the Nevada Secretary of State as well as local officials to incur expenses to implement elections. This Initiative does not disturb this discretion – either implicitly or explicitly – because, and as detailed in both Sections 9 and 11, the Initiative vests the implementation with the Legislature and likewise the Secretary of State and local officials. The Initiative leaves the "mechanics" of funding and administering the primary and general elections as it presently exists.

Helton contends the "test for whether an initiative imposes an expenditure is not whether it takes away budgeting officials discretion to decide *where* or *how* to spend money to accomplish an initiative's aims, but whether it takes away their discretion to decide whether to spend the money in the first place." (*Id.*) The Legislature, however, has already determined that the government *must* hold elections and provided a method of funding them. *See* NRS 293.442-NRS 293.460. Government officials lack discretion to cancel elections. It is engrained in the Constitution. The Initiative does not require officials to spend any more money than already necessary to hold an election; just as in the initiative in *Herbst Gaming* did not compel government officials to spend more money to enforce the law.

# D. The Initiative's Description is Straightforward, Succinct, and Nonargumentative – Unlike Helton's Proposal.

Helton's kitchen sink attack on the description of effect reinforces how such challenges have become routine in trying to interfere with the voters' rights. Helton epitomizes that abuse. He even resorts to a new contention never raised before the district court: The Initiative's effect on a candidate's ability to get on the general election ballot via signature gathering. (AOB 1.)<sup>13</sup> Yet, Helton's need for new contentions serves as a confession and, in any event, were waived. *Valley Health Sys., LLC v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.* 127 Nev. 167, 172, 252 P.3d 676, 679 (2011) (points not presented to the district court are waived).<sup>14</sup>

NRS 295.009(1)(a) obligates and allows the Initiative's proponents to "[s]et forth, in not more than 200 words, a description of the effect of the initiative or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Although Helton raises this issue now in his question presented, that certainly was not one of his contentions before the district court (JA0048-51). Besides, the voters plainly understand that since all candidates will be allowed to participate in the primary – which is not the case with a closed primary – succeeding as one of the top five in the primary is the means by which all candidates ascend to the general election ballot.

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